
 

 
Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee 
 
Thursday 22 April 2021 
10:00 

Meeting to be conducted using Microsoft Teams 
 
NB. Attendance by the public and press is via webcast only which can be viewed here - 
https://staffordshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 
 

John Tradewell 
Director of Corporate Services 

14 April 2021 
 

 
A G E N D A 

PART ONE 
 

1.  Apologies  
   
2.  Declarations of Interest  
   
3.  Minutes of the previous meeting held on 1 March 2021 (Pages 1 - 6) 
   
4.  Contextual Safeguarding and Vulnerable Adolescents (Pages 7 - 12) 
   
 Report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director for Families and 

Communities 
 

   
5.  Commissioning of Child Exploitation and Children and Young 

People Missing from Home or Care 
(Pages 13 - 24) 

   
 Report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director for Families and 

Communities 
 

   
6.  Work Programme (Pages 25 - 32) 
   
7.  Exclusion of the Public  
   
 The Chairman to move:- 

 
“That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business which involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in the paragraphs of Schedule 12A (as amended) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 indicated below”. 
 

 
 
 

 

  
 
 

County Buildings, Stafford 
DDI (01785) 276147 

Please ask for Helen Phillips 
Email: helen.phillips@staffordshire.gov.uk 

 

 

https://staffordshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


Part Two 
(All reports in this section are exempt) 
 
nil 

   
 
 

Membership 
 

Ann Beech 
Ron Clarke 
Ann Edgeller 
John Francis (Chairman) 
Trevor Johnson 
 

Bryan Jones 
Jason Jones 
Paul Snape 
Bob Spencer (Vice-Chairman) 
Mike Worthington 
 

 
Note for Members of the Press and Public 
 
Filming of Meetings 
 
The Open (public) section of this meeting may be filmed for live or later broadcasting or 
other use, and, if you are at the meeting, you may be filmed, and are deemed to have 
agreed to being filmed and to the use of the recording for broadcast and/or other 
purposes. 
 
Recording by Press and Public 
 
Recording (including by the use of social media) by the Press and Public is permitted 
from the public seating area provided it does not, in the opinion of the chairman, disrupt 
the meeting.  
 
Scrutiny and Support Manager: Nicholas Pountney Tel: (01785) 276153  
 
 



- 1 - 
 

Minutes of the Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee Meeting held on 1 
March 2021 

 
Present: Bob Spencer (Vice-Chairman, in the Chair) 

 

Attendance 
 

Ann Beech 
Ron Clarke 
Ann Edgeller 
 

Bryan Jones 
Jason Jones 
Paul Snape 
 

 
Also in attendance: Charlotte Atkins and Mark Sutton 
 
Apologies: John Francis and Mike Worthington 
 
PART ONE 
 
1. Declarations of Interest 
 
There were none at this meeting. 
 
2. Minutes of the meeting held on 6 January 2021 
 
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the Safe & Strong Communities select Committee 
meeting held on 6 January 2021 be confirmed and signed by the Vice-Chairman. 
 
3. Children & Families Transformation Phase 2 Update & Learning from the 
Serious Case Review 
 
The Serious Case Review (SCR) had been commissioned by the Stoke on Trent and 
Staffordshire Safeguarding Children’s Board following a house fire in 2019 in which four 
children had died. The Cabinet Member for Children and Young People shared details 
of the Review with Members and the harrowing nature of the event. Findings had 
showed the incident could not have been predicted but highlighting areas for learning.  
 
Members received a presentation from the Deputy Chief Executive and Director for 
Families and Communities on learning from the SCR feeding into the Transformation 
programme.  
 
Late in 2018 and the beginning of 2019 there had been difficulties in recruiting and 
retaining social workers. At that time Staffordshire was the only authority rated “good” in 
the West Midlands. Consequently, some surrounding authorities offered financial 
inducements for Staffordshire social workers to move authorities.  Loosing staff resulted 
in agency social worker staff numbers rising to 18% and an increase in case load 
numbers to an average of 30 cases per social worker. The insidious nature of long-term 
neglect was not always acknowledged at that time until a threshold event occurred to 
prompt intervention.  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

- 2 - 
 

Members heard that the formal consultation for the Children and Families 
Transformation Phase 2 commenced today, concluding on 10 May. The Transformation 
to date had evidenced developments since the incident in 2019. The social worker 
vacancy rate is now 4%, returning to the relative stability prior to 2018. The average 
case load per social worker was now down to 18. A professional lead for practice and 
development had been included into the proposed structure with the re-introduction of 
the Principal Social Worker post. Becky Reynolds had been appointed to the position 
and was an outstanding addition to the Directorate, working with front line staff to 
identify training needs and embed development, including around long-term neglect. A 
recent National Social Workers survey had shown that Staffordshire social workers felt 
more supported than their regional and national peers. Investment had been made in 
the number of family support workers, with their expertise in helping to combat neglect 
being key. 
 
An important component of the Transformation programme was making the currently 
complex and bureaucratic IT systems easier, enabling more time to be spent with 
families and less time on form filling. Currently 60% of a social worker’s time was taken 
with administration and 40% working directly with families.  The aspiration was to flip 
this enabling more time working directly with families, simplifying and streamlining 
processes, as well as introducing further administrative support.  
 
Restorative practice had been introduced 12 months ago, focusing on direct work with 
families. This was a model that all outstanding authorities used and enabled constant 
contact with families, early identification of changes and the introduction of actions to 
address these. Staffordshire was also one of a handful of authorities to take part in a 
Social Workers in Schools pilot project which brought education and social work 
professionals together to help identify signs of neglect and address these at the earliest 
opportunity. Recognising and addressing neglect formed an intrinsic part of many 
elements of the new system, taking account of learning over the last two years.  
 
The front door first contact point had been redesigned to be less form based and more 
conversational, avoiding multiple re-referrals, helping to fully understand the child, and 
enable the correct support to meet their needs. Additional social workers and senior 
social workers would be introduced into the referral process to support this. The 
successful Place Based Approach and earliest help model was being built upon, with 
commissioned services helping to support the early identification of neglect, including 
family support contracts across the County.  
 
All County Council staff and partner agencies were currently being trained to use the 
NSPCC’s graded care profile tool. This helped social workers, health visitors, family 
support workers, GPs and other professionals assess against several continuing neglect 
criteria and consider together ways to improve. The new model was based on the whole 
family approach which had been so successful through Staffordshire’s Building Resilient 
Families and Communities (BRFC) programme and addressed the root cause of the 
problem not just the symptoms. Staffordshire was a national lead authority in this 
approach. The new model also reduced “hand-offs” as families moved through the 
system, therefore preventing information being lost. This was achieved by the key 
worker model with, wherever possible, one linked worker staying with the family 
throughout their involvement with services. District level services would include adult 
specialist workers to work with families to help prevent children coming into care. These 

Page 2



 

- 3 - 
 

specialists helped address the root causes of neglect, such as drug and alcohol misuse, 
poverty, debt, domestic violence or housing problems. It was hoped that working with 
adults as well as children in the family would slow down the spiral of neglect by 
addressing its cause. 
 
Family group conferencing was being introduced across the whole of the service, with 
extra funding from Cabinet allocated for this. This brought together extended family and 
close friends to form a network for parents, putting together a plan of support that 
parents could rely on. This extended support group helped them to improve and 
maintain a quality home environment for their children and was shown to make a 
significant difference to families in preventing neglect. 
 
Changes to the quality assurance framework were being made to move towards 
quantifying the quality of work and the difference it made. Deep dive audits had also 
been undertaken around neglect. These had been across multi-agency partners on the 
Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Safeguarding Children’s Board (SSSCB) following the 
SCR and helped to identify where there were areas for improvement. The use of the 
NSPCC’s graded care profile tool had been informed by this work. A review of the Multi 
Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) was currently underway to ensure the timeliness of 
referrals and included all necessary information and partner’s input.  
 
Members received details of the new District Model Integrated Teams, including the key 
worker model and adult specialist teams. Members heard that there was a move 
towards becoming a learning organisation again, with a new intelligence function having 
been created 18 months ago giving an improved oversight of the work undertaken and 
direct line of sight on critical emerging issues. This function also brought together 
learning from reviews, audits, deep dives, feedback from practitioners as well as 
feedback from children, young people and their families. This then helped develop a 
whole system training programme. Learning also came from staff members, with 
quarterly reports from independent reviewing officers (IRO) included in this. The IROs 
chaired child protection conferences and were able to spot trends in good practice as 
well as trends in poor performance which could then feed into the training and 
development plan. 
 
The new structure had been developed following 12 to 18 months of discussions with 
those authorities judged as having outstanding services. Members also heard that for 
the first time for many years a practice week had been held, where 50 senior officers 
observed practice, capturing good and bad examples and completing over 500 audits 
during this period, informing the learning plan. The Children’s Improvement Board has 
been retained. This Board received in-depth performance information and deep dives on 
areas of concern, holding officers to account. 
 
Recruitment and retention of social workers remained an issue nationally with constant 
poaching of staff from one authority to another. Work was underway with the 14 West 
Midlands LAs to create a regional recruitment campaign and to broker an agreement to 
stop financial inducements such as the “golden hello”. Staffordshire had always had 
problems with staff poaching, with 17 other local authorities with children’s services in 
easy travelling distance. Retention of staff remained a constant issue.  Challenges also 
remained around the culture of the service. Whilst this was changing there was still a 
need to move further away from the command and control methods of working, to 

Page 3



 

- 4 - 
 

reduce bureaucracy and become less hierarchical. Further challenges would come from 
the Covid pandemic, with a need to work closely with education colleagues to close the 
gaps created during the pandemic and to overcome the legacy of covid on the whole 
family. Whilst the resources were available based on an assessed estimated need it 
was a possibility that it could be an under estimation once the actual need resulting from 
the pandemic was known. 
 
Members noted the recommendations from the SCR, including the introduction of focus 
groups, and asked whether there was a plan for their implementation. The report 
belonged to the SSSCB and the partner organisations that made up that Board. A 
comprehensive implementation plan had been produced, with progress on 
implementation reported to the SSSCB each month. Cross organisational groups of 
practitioners were being brought together, along with discussions with children and 
families using services where appropriate. The learning from these discussions helped 
inform a partnership training plan. Where learning related to a specific organisation the 
specific training and development would be taken on board by that organisation. 
 
The Select Committee welcomed the move towards a more conversational approach to 
front door referrals and the importance of being intelligence rather than data led. With 
the move towards restorative practice they asked if Officers were confident the early 
signs of neglect would be spotted. Restorative practice looked at keeping children in the 
home where it was safe to do so. Following cases such as Baby P there had been a 
significant increase in the number of children brought into the care system and a risk 
averse approach towards leaving them with their families. Prior to the Baby P tragedy 
Staffordshire had approximately 900 children in care, with this increasing to 1250 after 
the incident. However, national evidence showed poor outcomes for children brought 
into care early. The emphasis of the Children Act 1989 was for families to be kept 
together wherever possible and the report by Isabelle Trowler, Children’s 
Commissioner, entitled “Clear Blue Water” noted that the scales had tipped too far in 
bringing children into care. Restorative practice worked with families to help give them 
the tools they needed to make improvements and was a model used by every 
outstanding rated authority.  
 
Members noted that families with children on a Child Protection Plan (CPP) were aware 
of the changes needed, talking through the plan with professionals and being aware of 
the improvements required and the next steps should these improvements not be met. 
In the new model social workers and family support workers increasingly supported 
families in making the necessary changes. The Select Committee heard examples of 
this work, including providing nutritional meals within a budget and the very practical 
support provided to the family to help them achieve this. The Cabinet had made an £8m 
investment over 4 years for this work, recognising its long-term value. Members were 
also reminded that any decision to take a child into care or to return them to their 
families was one taken by the Court. 
 
Concerns were shared over the recruitment and retention of social workers, with 
consideration given to possible ways to ameliorate this. The Cabinet Member was 
determined to use his work with West Midlands regional Lead Members and with the 
National Local Government Association Children’s Board to push for all LAs to pay the 
same rate for social workers. Continuous changes to social work staff was detrimental to 

Page 4



 

- 5 - 
 

the authority and the children and families they supported and every effort was being 
made to address this. 
 
The SCR noted that there had been too much focus on the wishes of the mother rather 
than on the wishes of the children and Members asked if this emphasis in approach had 
changed. The new training and development plan looked at this and more widely how 
social workers engage with significant male family members as this was highlighted as a 
national issue. However, Members were also reminded that whilst this had been a 
terrible tragedy, the service worked with 8000 families, and whilst one tragedy was one 
too many there was also a need to recognise the good work within the Service.  
 
The importance of chronologies had been raised in the SCR and was endorsed by 
Officers. Whilst there was no requirement to produce a chronology for Children in Need 
rather than those on a CPP, it was intended to capture this information from the earliest 
point where possible to help inform service delivery and provide a more complete 
picture. Multi-agency chronologies were vital in providing the necessary information and 
work was ongoing to improve and simplify the IT systems used to make this a more 
manageable process. Part of the integrated care record process was to look at how 
records could join-up with health colleagues. The MASH review was also critical to this 
information sharing work, including how referrals were made, recorded and how to avoid 
duplicating tasks.  
 
The SCR had noted at recommendation 4 that core group invitations to multi-agency 
meetings would often see members leaving the meeting after 10 or 20 minutes as they 
hadn’t been aware of how long the meeting would take. Members understood the 
suggestion that finish timescales be included but felt this wouldn’t necessarily address 
attendees leaving the meeting early. This would be audited going forward with concerns 
shared with partner organisations where necessary. 
 
The Cabinet Member explained the changing climate since the SCR, with the voice of 
the child central to the Service. Learning from the SCR was being embedded and 
incorporated into services moving forward, with the Restorative Practice model at the 
heart of this. He informed the Select Committee that he was greatly reassured that 
services were moving forward positively. 
 
RESOLVED: That the learning from the SCR and its use to develop services and inform 
training and best practice be supported. 
 
4. Work Programme 
 
The Select Committee noted their work programme, with one meeting left in this 
municipal year on 22 April considering: 

 Catch 22 

 Domestic Violence 

 Contextual Safeguarding review 
 
Members were aware that this meeting would be held during purdah. 
 
RESOLVED: That the work programme be noted. 
 

Page 5



 

- 6 - 
 

 
 
 

Chairman 
 

Page 6



Local Members Interest 

N/A 

 

Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee - Thursday 22 
April 2021 

 

Contextual Safeguarding and Vulnerable Adolescents 
 
Recommendations 
 
I recommend that the Committee: 
 
a. Notes the considerable progress made on Contextual Safeguarding; and 
 
b. Receives the information set out in this report to provide them with a clear 

understanding of how the County Council is meeting the statutory requirements to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children who are being exploited or at risk of 
being exploited.  

 
Report of Helen Riley, Deputy Chief Executive and Director for Families and 
Communities 
 

Summary 
 
1. Child Sexual Exploitation and Children and Young People Missing from Home or 

Care have been a key strategic priority for the County Council and its partners since 
2014. Leadership and accountability for this work area is supported through robust 
governance and scrutiny arrangements across the wider Staffordshire and Stoke 
on Trent partnership. It continues to be a priority for Staffordshire Safeguarding 
Children Board (SSCB) and regular reports are received through these 
arrangements as well as through Staffordshire’s Safer and Strong Communities 
Select Committee and the Missing Strategic Board.  

 
2. Following the OFSTED Inspection and subsequent report in March 2019 the 

recommendation made to the Local Authority was that: 
 

3. ‘the Local Authority’s response to children exposed to contextualised risk is not well 
developed and joined up. For a small number of young people who are at high risk, 
the response is not robust enough.’  

 
4. Contextual Safeguarding is a theoretical response to safeguarding vulnerable 

adolescents outside of their family. Contextual Safeguarding has been developed 
by Bedfordshire University and this theoretical framework is fast becoming the 
practice model in safeguarding vulnerable adolescents. Working Together Revised 
Guidance December 2020 changed the definition of Contextual Safeguarding to 
“Abuse outside of the family home”. 

 
5. To support improvement within this area there is a Contextual Safeguarding 

Implementation Plan in place which is a live working document to ensure learning 
during development can be incorporated into the plan. Remaining actions from the 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) Action plan and learning from the ECPAT* audits 
have been incorporated into the plan. (*EPCAT is a leading children’s rights 
organisation working to protect children from child trafficking and transnational child 
exploitation). Progress on all these plans is reported below: 

 

Report 
 
Strategy 
 
6. There is now a Child Exploitation Strategy shared by the Safeguarding Boards 

across the city and the county. Plans were in place to launch the strategy in March 
2020, but this was delayed due to the pandemic. The strategy was officially 
launched on the 7th December 2020 at the Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Virtual 
Child Exploitation Conference. We continue to be supported by the Contextual 
Safeguarding Network and Dr Carlene Firmin (founder of Contextual safeguarding) 
joined us at the launch of the strategy.  

 
Training and Development 
 
7. Extensive training has been delivered to all partners including but not limited to, 

local authority, police, health, schools, probation, voluntary sector, foster carers and 
commissioned services. Feedback on the training has been positive and this has 
helped shape future practice.  
 

8. Work is now underway to develop level 2 Child Exploitation Training which will be 
available through SSCB to all partners.  

 
9. The launch of the Child Exploitation Strategy on the 9th December 2020 involved 

over 250 professionals and focused on spotting and understanding the early signs 
of child exploitation. The launch involved people with lived experiences of 
exploitation and included the voices of parents and children. Plans are in place to 
repeat the conference on the 4th March 2021, due to the significant interest in this 
event. 

 
10. We have several champions representing all children and family services across 

the Local Authority who are working with us to share specialist knowledge, embed 
good practice and raise professional awareness. 
 

11. ‘Top Tips’ guides on what to look out for have been developed for Team Managers 
and the Police Harm Reduction Hubs. Additionally, ‘Top Tips’ guides have also 
been developed on the mapping of associations and safety planning with children 
to reduce the risks of exploitation. 

 
Resources 

 
12. To support the development of this work we have built some extra capacity within 

the existing service which means that there is now an additional CSE Co-ordinator 
and Administrator. Work is now underway to identify permanent funding for these 
additional posts.  

 

Page 8



Identification and screening 
 

13. To ensure that we are identifying our vulnerable adolescents and considering all 
aspects of exploitation the existing Risk Factor Matrix (RFM) has been revised to 
include all exploitation. The Vulnerable Adolescents RFM and guidance can be 
found on the Safeguarding Board website together with the referral pathway. This 
RFM has been developed utilising best practice from Knowsley, recommended by 
Dr Carlene Firmin and has been adapted for Staffordshire. The RFM is continually 
reviewed with partners as our knowledge and experiences increases.  

 
Multi-Agency Child Exploitation Panels (MACE) 

 
14. These are the panels which will receive the referrals from a completed Risk Factor 

Matrix (RFM). Once the RFM has been received, all the information is cross 
referenced with intelligence and links made between vulnerable children and those 
causing them harm. Checks across various vulnerabilities are made across several 
systems which enables the panels to be informed about individual risk factors 
including SEND, Missing, Prevent, Safeguarding and Children who are in our care 
or known to other targeted services. Vulnerable locations are also identified. Eco 
maps are developed to support the identification of children at risk of exploitation. 
The focus of the panels is disruption and the core panel members will utilise the 
Home Office guidance on Child Exploitation to ensure that those causing harm to 
our children are prevented from doing so.  
 

15. There are now 6 panels across Staffordshire in recognition that more children will 
be identified across more than one vulnerability. Panels are now held in Stafford, 
Moorlands, Newcastle, Burton/Uttoxeter, Tamworth/Lichfield and South Staffs. All 
panels are now live and operational. The panels are chaired by Heads of Service 
from Children and Family services and they regularly meet, to ensure that practice 
and chairing arrangements are consistent whilst considering local variances.  

 
Pathways and Interventions 

 
16. Our commissioned service for CSE and Missing is still available from Catch 22 and 

there is no change to this contract. Where children are identified as at risk of Child 
Exploitation, referrals to the YOS Prevention Service can be made. 
 

17. Catch 22 has also received some short-term funding and has developed a pilot 
which has a targeted intervention programme for children at risk of Child Criminal 
Exploitation. This pilot commenced in March 2020 and is for 12 months. This 
programme is currently being evaluated.  

 
Performance and Impact 

 
18. We need to prove that what we are doing is making a difference and we are 

developing the performance framework so that we can demonstrate impact and 
identify areas for improvement, best practice and trends. To support this area of 
work we have established a strategic Child Exploitation Steering Group which will 
have responsibility for driving forward improvement in this key area. The Steering 

Page 9



Group reports into the SSCB and is working with the national Tackling Child 
Exploitation Programme to develop a partnership framework.  

 
Moving Forward and Next Steps 

 
19. We will be closely monitoring partners’ engagement and evaluating impact of the 

panels with our partners.  We are also developing internal data collection and 
reporting through the Power BI desktop, which will have the ability to cross 
reference this data with other vulnerability data such as missing, known to YOS, 
children known to have an Education and Health Care Plan. Additionally, an IT 
programme to support the development of the mapping process is being devolved 
which has identified funding to support the project.  
 

20. Over the next 12 months we will be continuing to increase and promote professional 
awareness in relation to exploitation, so that practitioners become adept to spotting 
the early signs to prevent children becoming entrenched with gang association / 
involvement, being trafficked for the purpose of exploitation and to prevent them 
from being at risk of serious significant harm.  

 
21. It is proposed that we will continue to strengthen an organisational culture of 

prevention and deterrence through workforce development both internally and via 
wider partnership training through the Safeguarding Board.  We are continuing to 
work in partnership with all agencies to ensure that we continue to have a multi-
agency approach towards disruption, promote a hostile environment to child 
exploitation and ensure that adults of concern who abuse our children are disrupted 
and prosecuted. 

 
22. We will continue to not only consider and target adults of concern but locations of 

concern that require a multi-agency disruption response to creating safer spaces 
for both children and the community. We continue to build positive links with the 
district councils and housing who provide valuable contributions to this disruption. 

 
23. We will continue to work with the national Tackling Child Exploitation Programme 

and the SSCB to fully develop the partnership performance framework.  
 

Numbers of children 
 

24. From November 2019 six panels were rolled out across the County. In March 2020 
panels were suspended for a short period due to Covid 19 being reinstated on a 
virtual basis at the start of May 2020 at the point panels changed to MACE – Multi 
Agency Child Exploitation Panels to be aligned with the National picture. 

 
25. Between May 2019 and April 2020, a total of 275 children were discussed at panel, 

which is an increase on the previous year of 103 children. This increase was 
expected given panels now consider all children who are at risk of exploitation rather 
than focusing on child sexual exploitation. 

 
26. Most children discussed at panel are between the ages of 14-17. Young people 

who are over 18 are also considered with their consent.    
 

Page 10



Impact of panels 
 

27. The information gained from individual referrals and multi agency intelligence is 
mapped so that professionals can agree actions to disrupt adults who present a risk 
to children. In addition, locations that are identified as posing a risk to child 
exploitation are identified and actions are agreed for a multi-agency approach to 
disruption.    
 

Examples of good practice 
 

28. Concerns were raised at a Partnership meeting following several incidents linked to 
exploitation in a specified location and a neighbourhood assessment was 
undertaken. This was led by a District Council and several changes were made to 
the location including changes to the physical location where appropriate, 
installation of CCTV, education for residents and advice and information for 
business owners and licensing departments. 
 

29. Information from the MACE panels for individual children is demonstrating that the 
risks for children are reducing by focusing on disruption of the adults posing the 
risks and implementing support and safety plans for our children. A good individual 
example is a child who has been supported by a lived experience mentor through 
Catch 22, supported into training and community activities and the adults have been 
disrupted. This has led to a reduction in the risk of exploitation and the child feeling 
safe and supported.  

.   
Link to Strategic Plan  

 
Outcomes 

 
30. The people of Staffordshire will feel safer, happier and more supported in and by 

their local community. 
 

Priorities 
 

31. Ensure children and families have a network of support to help manage their own 
problems and stay safe. 

 
Link to Other Overview and Scrutiny Activity 

 
32. This report is a follow on from previous reports the Committee have received 

regarding the LA’s approach to tackling child exploitation.  
 

Community Impact 
 
33. CIA has been completed according to LA requirements. 
 

List of Background Documents/Appendices:  
 
None. 

 

Page 11



Contact Details 
 
Report Commissioner:  Chris Heeley 
Job Title:    Assistant Director for Early Help, Safeguarding and YOS 
Telephone No.:   07976191118 
E-Mail Address:   christopher.heeley@staffordshire.gov.uk  

Page 12

mailto:christopher.heeley@staffordshire.gov.uk


Local Members Interest 

N/A 

 

Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee - Thursday 22 
April 2021 
 

Commissioning of Child Exploitation (CE) and Children and Young 
People Missing from Home or Care 
 
Recommendations 
 
I recommend that the Committee: 
 
a. Acknowledges and scrutinises the continued performance of the Pan-Staffordshire 

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and Missing Children & Young People’s Service, 
provided by Catch22.  

 
b. Acknowledges and scrutinises the emerging future commissioning intentions in 

relation to the Pan-Staffordshire Exploitation and Missing Children & Young 
People’s Service 

 
c. Acknowledges and scrutinises that the service delivery outlined within the report 

contributes to the delivery of the Staffordshire & Stoke-on-Trent Child Exploitation 
Strategy.  

 
Report of Helen Riley, Deputy Chief Executive and Director for Families and 
Communities 
 

Summary 
 
1. This report provides an overview of the delivery and the future commissioning 

intentions of the Pan-Staffordshire Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and Missing 
Children & Young People’s Service. This Service is currently delivered by Catch22, 
on behalf of Staffordshire County Council, Stoke-on-Trent City Council and the 
Staffordshire Commissioners Office.  

 
2. The Pan-Staffordshire Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and Missing Children & 

Young People’s Service contributes to a whole-system approach to the delivery of 
the priorities set out in the Child Exploitation Strategy, as set out in the report of the 
Head of Staffordshire Youth Offending Service (SYOS) to the Safe and Strong 
Select Committee on Thursday 22nd April 2021.  

 
3. The Safe and Strong Select Committee has previously scrutinised and received 

update reports relating to the Catch22 CSE & Missing Service, with the last report 
given full consideration at the Committee in May 2019 and subsequent Briefing 
Paper been provided to Members in September 2020.  

 

  

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



Report 
 
Background  
 
4. Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and Children and Young People Missing from 

Home or Care continues to be a priority for Staffordshire County Council, Stoke-on-
Trent City Council, the Staffordshire Commissioner’s Office and its Partners. 
 

5. Stoke-on-Trent City Council, Staffordshire County Council and the Commissioner’s 
Office have commissioned Catch22 to deliver a Pan-Staffordshire Child Sexual 
Exploitation and Missing Children & Young People’s Service. Catch22, who 
commenced service delivery in September 2017, were awarded the contract 
following an extensive period of research and design.  

 
6. The Partners of the Joint Commissioning Group have agreed the Catch22 contract 

will remain in place until 31st March 2022, following approval to extend the 
provisions of the Deed of Agreement within the internal governance arrangement 
of each Partner. In Staffordshire, this was approved by the Deputy Chief Executive 
and Director for Families and Communities through the Families & Communities 
Leadership Team.  
 

7. Accountability for CSE and Missing Children, along with the broader agenda around 
Child Exploitation is underpinned by effective governance and scrutiny 
arrangements. Regular reporting and scrutiny are facilitated through the 
Staffordshire Safeguarding Partnership, the Staffordshire Safe and Strong Select 
Committee, the Missing Children Strategic Board and Child Exploitation Strategy 
Group.  

 
8. On 1st April 2021, Catch22 will enter the final year of delivery under the current 

procurement arrangements. In consideration to this, the Partnership are working 
collaboratively to coproduce future commissioning intentions relating to  Child 
Exploitation and Missing Children.  
 

9. In September 2020, a Briefing Report outlined the performance of the Catch22 
service against the contract requirements and provided information relating to their 
COVID-19 pandemic response. This report to the Safe and Strong Select 
Committee will provide an update on service performance throughout April to 
December of 2020 whilst providing an outline of the emerging future commissioning 
intentions.  

 
Overview of the Children and Young People Missing from Home or Care 
Service:  

 
10. Catch22 facilitates all independent Return Home Interviews (RHI) for missing 

children and young people aged up to 18 years residing in Staffordshire and Stoke-
on-Trent. This includes children or young people cared for in Staffordshire who are 
the Corporate Parenting responsibility of another Local Authority. The interview is 
an opportunity to gather information from the individual and to identify root cause 
factors which have contributed to the incident. It also aims to protect and prevent 
further missing episodes. 

Page 14



11. The interview is in-depth and is completed by a specialist independent practitioner, 
who is trained to conduct these interviews and can respond to any issues that 
emerge. Information gathered during the interview is shared with appropriate 
organisations, including the Local Authority and Staffordshire Police. The interview 
supports the professionals working with the child or young person to build a 
comprehensive picture of the reasons behind the missing episode, activity during 
the missing episode and potential risk factors. It also provides an opportunity to 
inform care planning, wider strategic planning and for professionals to consider the 
views, opinions and experiences of a child or young person.  

 
12. Catch22 does not conduct return home interviews for children or young people 

residing outside of Staffordshire who are cared for by Staffordshire County Council. 
This is undertaken either by a locally commissioned service or by the child or young 
person’s key worker. The return home interview is then recorded on the child or 
young persons’ individual record to ensure the same due diligence is taken and 
wider considerations can be made to inform care planning, wider strategic planning 
and for professionals to consider the views, opinions and experiences of a child or 
young person’. 

 
13. Participation in a RHI is at the discretion of the individual child or young person, 

their parents/carers and sometimes also the Local Authority who has parental 
responsibility.   

 
14. Processes relating to Children Missing from Home and Care are outlined in a Joint 

Protocol between Staffordshire County Council, Stoke on Trent City Council and 
Staffordshire Police.   

 
Missing Service Delivery across Staffordshire 

 
15. Catch22 proactively seeks to encourage children and young people to participate 

in an RHI. Catch22 will work to engage with an individual and their families or carers 
for up to fourteen days after the missing episode has occurred in order to attempt 
to complete an RHI.  Where multiple missing episodes occur in quick succession, 
Catch22 will ensure that each of these is discussed when an RHI is completed.  

 
16. As a minimum Catch22 will make two separate attempts to engage a child or young 

person in an RHI, promoting the benefits.  
 

17. Performance data for the period April 2020 to December 2020 is outlined below.  
 

18. Throughout COVID-19, Catch22 has continued to offer face to face delivery of RHIs 
when they have been requested.  Flexibility of the delivery methods have also 
enabled them to provide virtual and phone RHIs when these has been the preferred 
method or necessity has required this.  
 

19. An overview of missing incidents is provided for Q1, Q2 and Q3 of the 2020 -2021 
contractual year:  

Page 15



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Performance Analysis of Missing Incidents 
 

20. Excluding Q2 in North Staffordshire, Staffordshire has seen notifications of missing 
incidents increasing across each quarter in North, South and East Staffordshire.  

 
21. In the majority of circumstances, where an offer of a RHI has not been made, it is 

because the child or young person is living in Staffordshire under the care of another 
Local Authority. In these circumstances the Local Authority has opted to complete 
the RHI and not utilise the Catch22 Service. SCC has seen this situation increasing 
in South Staffordshire in particular.  An example of this can be found in Q3 when 
61 missing notifications were received from the Police by Catch22 and yet the offer 
of an RHI was reported to be 39 (64%).   

 
22. COVID-19 has resulted in an increase in overall declines of an RHI and this can be 

seen across the quarters.  It should however be acknowledged that where families 
and carers do agree to the RHI taking place they are seeing an increased parental 
and carer involvement which is having positive results.  

 
23. COVID-19 related school closures have also impacted on the delivery of RHIs in 

schools (often a preferred venue for children and young people).  Catch22 has 
worked with the Staffordshire Education Safeguarding Leads closely to reassure 
schools and promote access where health, safety and wellbeing has allowed.  

 
24. The number of children and young people receiving an RHI remains consistent.  It 

is usual that the number of individuals will be less than the number of notifications 
and the overall RHI offer figure. This is because regrettably we see multiple missing 
episodes taking place in quick succession for some individuals.  An example of this 
is a 32% increase in notifications in North Staffordshire in Q3. This could be 
attributed directly to the movement of three young people, who were known by 
Staffordshire Police and other services to be prolific missing persons, from Stoke 
on Trent into the Newcastle under Lyme district.   In this instance it is reported that 
multiple missing episodes would take place before Catch22 could gain agreement 
from the individuals to partake in an RHI.  

 
25. There has been a reported overall reduction in the number of children or young 

people requiring intervention meetings for the 5+ or 9+ missing episodes over a 90-
day period. The average number of episodes has remained between 2-4 which 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q1 Q2 Q3

Moorlands 46 28 47 46 28 47 20 21 15 45 27 37

Newcastle under Lyme 47 42 64 47 42 62 16 17 20 39 36 46

Stafford 41 46 60 38 45 58 19 25 26 25 37 44

STAFFS NORTH TOTAL 134 116 171 131 115 167 55 63 61 109 100 127

South Staffs 16 35 61 13 33 39 7 16 18 11 29 32

East Staffs 41 43 51 38 40 49 19 16 18 36 34 42

Lichfield 10 28 32 10 23 30 9 10 14 10 20 21

Cannock 31 40 35 24 36 35 11 18 18 22 31 33

Tamworth 17 32 17 17 27 13 12 14 8 15 19 11

STAFFS SOUTH / EAST TOTAL 115 178 196 102 159 166 58 74 76 94 133 139

Notifications RHI Offered
Individuals 

Received RHI
Total RHI

DISTRICT

Page 16



suggests that in many instances the first intervention meeting being held at 3+ 
missing episodes is impactful.  

 
26. The ‘top 3’ primary reason for missing incidents remain unchanged. 

 
a. Peer/Friends 
b. Emotional wellbeing 
c. Family 

 
27. Of the males who have had a missing notification between April-December 2020, 

52% of these were aged between 13-15 years, a further 41% were aged between 
16-18 years.  

 
28. Of the females who have had a missing notification between April- December 2020, 

54% of these were aged between 13-15 years, a further 40% were aged between 
16-18 years.  

 
CSE Service Delivery across Staffordshire 

 
29. CSE has been a key strategic priority for Staffordshire County Council and its 

partners since 2014 and forms part of the broader Child Exploitation Strategy.  
Catch22 is commissioned to link effectively with SCC’s specialist internal CSE Co-
ordinators to provide support, guidance and intervention via four means which are 
outlined below:  
 

a. Direct Work: Flexible, evidence-based, longer term interventions adapted to the 
needs of each child to reduce risk and help them cope and recover from the 
impact of CSE.  

b. Bespoke Delivery: Work with a professional to co-deliver part of a planned piece 
of work or direct support for the professional to deliver the work themselves.  

c. Resource Sharing: Catch22 has a range of resources that can be utilised by 
other professionals. Catcvh22 share these as appropriate and ensure that 
professionals are confident in their use.  

d. Group Work: Through mapping themes and trends, Catch22 may determine that 
group work within certain settings is required to tackle low-level risks. 

 
30. Referrals for CSE work are made to Catch22 using a Risk Factor Matrix (RFM) 

which was revised in 2020 to include all Child Exploitation. The RFM and guidance 
relating to it can be found on the Staffordshire Children’s Safeguarding Board 
Website.  One RFM is used consistently across Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent.  

 
31. The RFM is formulated to help identify risk factors and this then is used by Catch22 

to inform the approach to any CSE work undertaken with a child or young person.  
The support needs of an individual, associated risks, nature and the frequency of 
intervention alongside any wider partnership involvements will all be considered.  

 
32. Support from the Catch22 Service can be requested directly if the RFM reflects a 

low risk.  It can also be identified via Multi Agency Child Exploitation (MACE) 
Panels. 

Page 17



33. The MACE panels review the referrals where a completed RFM is assessed as 
medium or high risk. Once the RFM has been received, all the information is cross 
referenced with intelligence and links made between vulnerable children and those 
causing them harm. Checks across various vulnerabilities are made across several 
systems which enables the panels to be informed about individual risk factors 
including SEND, Missing, Prevent, Safeguarding and Children who are Looked 
After or known to other targeted services. 
 

34. Support and interventions in the CSE Service are in no way time limited and the 
reduction of risk level is always the dominant factor when Catch22 considers closing 
a referral.  That said, the service resourcefully utilises its trained mentors and 
volunteers to continue support even when a key worker completes their 
involvement.  For example, this has proven to be particularly effective where there 
are additional complex needs and/or an individual is awaiting support following a 
referral to a partnership agency (such as CAMHS or Child Sexual Abuse Services). 

 
35. CSE service numbers, according to identified risk level for Q1, Q2 and Q3 of the 

2020-2021 contractual year are outlined below: 
 

  
Performance Analysis of CSE service 

 
36. A total of 86 referrals were received in Q3 across Staffordshire and this was the 

highest referral rate across the quarters when compared to the 78 in Q1 and the 56 
in Q2.  

 
37. Significant increases in Staffordshire South and East have been seen across the 

contract year so far.  Of the referrals received 30% resulted in direct work and 70% 
were consultations. In addition, there was a 60% increase in number of referrals 
compared to Q3 2019/2020.  The increase can be attributed to service delivery 
presentations during SCC’s Practice Week, Catch22 attendance at Practitioner 
Briefings and additional meetings with operational staff across SCC and our 
Partners.  

 
38. Conversely, whilst referral rates in North Staffordshire dipped slightly in Q2 they 

remain consistent overall.  There has though been a 64% increase in referrals for 
direct support, with 34% relating to consultations. Catch22 report that “this increase 
in direct work referrals reflects a reluctance from referrers to engage in either 
bespoke work or with consultations to receive resources and deliver support 
themselves.” 

 
39. Consistently the ‘top two’ reason for reported models of CSE are: 

 

Inappropriate 0

No CSE Risk 0

Low 94

Medium 109

High 17

TOTAL 220

Q2 2020/21 Q3 2020/21

RISK LEVEL TOTAL

32 46 27 29 33 53

2 3 4 1 4 3

10 26 17 13 12 31

20 17 6 15 17 19

0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0

Staffordshire 

North

Staffordshire 

South/East

Staffordshire 

North

Staffordshire 

South/East

Staffordshire 

North

Staffordshire 

South/East

Q1 2020/21

Page 18



a. Inappropriate relationships 
b. Online/Social Media 

 
40. Of the 220 CSE related referrals that have come into the service in year, 87% of 

these are for females, the remaining 13% have been for males.  
 

41. Improved outcomes and positive impacts for children and young people who access 
the CSE service are vital. Catch22 use Outcome Star (specifically My Star) when 
supporting an individual and report that routinely movement across 4.5 of the 8 
areas within the star are achieved.   

 
42. The below chart demonstrates the percentage of children and young people across 

the CSE Service who feel they have made progress.  It also shows the average 
improvement in star rating and reassuringly it is clear to see that the greatest area 
of improvement is in the ‘Being Safe’ category, where we would most expect it to 
be. 

 

 
COVID-19 Response and Service Developments 

 
43. Since March 2020, Catch22 has maintained face to face delivery when there has 

been an identified need to do so.  At all times the service has worked within 
government guidelines and has ensured the safety of staff and families, using full 
PPE where any direct contact occurs.   

 
44. Very recently, all Catch22 frontline staff have been offered the option of their first 

vaccine, which was universally welcomed. They will always of course continue to 
maintain high safety standards and will be guidance compliant in their work with 
children and families.  

Page 19



45. Catch22 developed ‘COVID Response – Best Practice Guidance’ for schools and 
care homes as well as a blended offer responsive to children and young people’s 
wishes. 

 
46. The Participation and Young People’s Forum has continued throughout the 

pandemic and has met more frequently (as regularly as fortnightly) at the request 
of young people. Forums have diversified to include virtual music sessions, games 
event and quizzes.   

 
47. A Summer Programme took place and benefited from Catch22’s wider services and 

contracts. It enabled 12 individual sessions to be put on for young people to partake 
in (some virtually and some face to face during the summer school holidays).  All 
were managed carefully to be compliant with guidelines but Catch22 successfully 
supported individuals to attend sports sessions, visit Serenity Farm and take trips 
to local green spaces too.  

 
48. Mentors and Volunteers continue to be a vital resource for Catch22, once fully 

trained this part of the staff workforce support children and young people in a wide 
variety of ways. Currently there are 19 active mentors and volunteers and there is 
a further cohort also undertaking training.  

 
49. COVID-19 Hardship Funding, devolved from a wider Catch22 bid in response to the 

pandemic, has seen an additional £12,500 come into the service this contract year.  
To date, 60 individuals or families have benefited in a wide range of ways.  For 
example, the money has purchased children’s shoes, flooring within a household, 
bespoke safety app software for a child’s device and even some ICT equipment for 
one household.  Additionally, each child or young person in the service in December 
received a personally delivered pamper pack or Christmas gift. The remainder of 
the money from this fund will be wisely used by the 31st of March 2021.  

 
Emerging Future Commissioning Intentions  

 
50. On 1st April 2021, Catch22 will enter the final year of delivery under the current 

procurement arrangements. To ensure continued compliance with appropriate 
Procurement Regulations, the Partnership is working collaboratively to coproduce 
future commissioning intentions relating to Child Exploitation and Missing Children.  

 
51. SCC has agreed to be the Lead for the future commissioning arrangements relating 

to Child Exploitation & Missing Children & Young People. In consideration to this, 
the County Council will lead a Joint Commissioning Group which includes Stoke-
on-Trent City Council, the Commissioner’s Office and Staffordshire Police.  
 

52. The Partners are continuing to develop an emerging, aspirational Service Scope 
and set of Principles which seeks to provide a high-level overview of the 
components which will be explored through the development of the Service 
Specification through the Joint Commissioning Group.   
 

53. At the time of writing, it is anticipated that the Partnership will jointly commission a 
Child Exploitation and Missing Children & Young People Service which will consist 
of three main core elements: a child exploitation service, a lived experience mentor 

Page 20



offer and a missing from home or care service.  Each element will interlink with the 
other to ensure that the need and voice of a child is centric to any support that is 
provided within the Service and across wider partnerships.  The Service will adopt 
a whole family approach to empower families in achieving their goals with the aim 
of sustaining long term change and stability.  
 

54. The proposed Service will see the CSE & Missing Service Model reconfigured to be 
inclusive of all forms of “Exploitation”.  

 
Child Exploitation Emerging Commissioning Intentions:  

 
55. The emerging, aspirational Service Scope in relation to Child Exploitation is as 

follows:  
 

a. 0-18-year-old children, resident in one of Staffordshire’s eight districts or residing 
within the City of Stoke on Trent.  

b. Children referred into the Service prior to their 18th birthday can continue to 
receive the appropriate support beyond their 18th birthday as part of a planned 
exit from the Service.  Transition into appropriate adult support service/s should 
be considered and actioned within the Service as part of any closure or exit plan.  

c. Children accessing the Service will always have a presenting need of 
“Exploitation”. A child identified to be at risk of ‘Child Exploitation’, an inclusive 
term that encompasses the following as per the Child Exploitation Strategy, 
endorsed by both the Staffordshire Safeguarding Children Board and the Stoke-
on-Trent Safeguarding Children Partnership. 

d. The Service will support all the following forms of Child Exploitation: CSE, CCE, 
Gangs, County Lines, Child Trafficking and Modern Slavery.  

e. The Service will include accessibility for children assessed as Low, Medium and 
High risk. However, the Service Delivery Model will be informed through the 
development of the Service Specification and the need to maximise resources to 
meet those most in need.   

f. The Child Exploitation service will adopt a Trauma Informed approach. 
g. The Service will seek to refer children into appropriate community networks of 

support or services which meet the needs of the whole family. 
 

Lived Experience Emerging Commissioning Intentions:  
 

56. The emerging, aspirational Service Scope in relation to Lived Experience Mentors 
is as follows: 

 
a. Research and best practice indicate that children who are victims of child 

exploitation or at risk of child exploitation can be particularly difficult to engage.  
b. It is intended that this element of the Service is used to complement the proposed 

service delivery model around child exploitation. Lived Experience Mentors will 
be an intrinsic part of the Service and will be used to initiate contact with children 
and families to encourage engagement and participation with the Service where 
engagement has proved challenging.  

c. It is anticipated that the mentors will increase the numbers of children referred 
into the service and that achieve a positive outcome.  

Page 21

https://www.staffsscb.org.uk/working-together-to-safeguard-children/child-exploitation/


d. In addition to supporting children through direct work, the Lived Experience 
Mentors will also support Service practitioners to deliver training to professionals, 
promoting the referral pathways into the Service and the support available.   

e. Lived Experience Mentors may also assist in targeted group work. 
 

57. The Lived Experience Offer would be underpinned by a robust infrastructure of 
support to reflect the sensitive nature of the proposed offer. This would seek to 
ensure the safety, wellbeing and protection of our children and young people and 
the Lived Experience Mentors.  
 

Missing Children & Young People Emerging Commissioning Intentions:  
 

58. The emerging, aspirational Service Scope in relation to Missing Children & Young 
People is as follows: 
 

a. 0-18-year-old children resident in one of Staffordshire’s eight districts or residing 
within the City of Stoke on Trent. The Service will cease to engage with most 
children on their eighteenth birthday. This includes any child who is resident in 
one of the eight district of Staffordshire or the City of Stoke on Trent and is 
reported as missing and therefore recorded as missing by Staffordshire Police. 
Once this child has received a Police prevention interview the child will be offered 
a RHI by the Service. 

b. Children must be offered the opportunity of a RHI within the timeframe stipulated 
within government Statutory Guidance.  Current guidance stipulates a 72-hour 
time frame and the Service will be expected to operate to this until revised 
guidance is published.  Any revision within future guidance to response times 
must be responded to by the Service. 

c. The Service will utilise virtual and digital methods to complete RHI, alongside a 
face to face offer where risk levels following a Police prevention interview 
dictates.  

d. The Service will seek to refer children into appropriate community networks of 
support or services which meet the needs of the whole family.  

e. The Service will continue to meet the statutory requirements in relation to 
Children Missing from Home or Care, as set out in the Statutory Guidance 
currently or in the future.  

f. The Service will work in partnership in order to uphold the principles and 
processes outlined in the Joint Protocol on Children who Run Away or Go 
Missing from Home or Care. 
 

59. The Service will support a spot-purchase option for either Staffordshire County 
Council and/or Stoke on Trent City Council where the Local Authority has a child 
residing outside of Staffordshire or Stoke on Trent but would prefer the Service to 
offer an RHI.   

 
Emerging Services Principles:  

 
60. The Service will be expected to work to the following set of guiding principles: 

 
a. It will assume contextualised safeguarding principles in all Service elements. 

Initially developed by Bedfordshire University six years ago, contextual 

Page 22

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/307867/Statutory_Guidance_-_Missing_from_care__3_.pdf
http://webapps.stoke.gov.uk/uploadedfiles/D08_Children_Missing_from_Care_and_Home_and_Vulnerable_Missing_Families.pdf
http://webapps.stoke.gov.uk/uploadedfiles/D08_Children_Missing_from_Care_and_Home_and_Vulnerable_Missing_Families.pdf


safeguarding is an approach to safeguarding children which responds to their 
experiences outside of the home.   

b. Inclusion and diversity will be championed within this Service. The Service will 
ensure that protected characteristics of age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, 
sex, and sexual orientation are at the forefront of Service delivery. 

c. Whole family approach to work will be endorsed across the Service, in line with 
The Care Act and whole-family approaches.  For example, the Service will 
provide adults and children with the tools they need to set goals together.   In 
achieving their goals, it is anticipated that long-term change and stability will be 
assured. 

d. Effective partnership working across agencies to ensure the earliest identification 
of need and risk.  This will be best achieved by concise and effective information 
sharing across organisational systems at both an individual/family and strategic 
level.  The Service will work using digital means and system-wide recording to 
effectively record activity and measure impact. 

e. System-wide collaboration, reducing the number of ‘hand offs’ and service 
transfer/transition points. 

f. Utilise digital technology to provide a blended service that offers both face to face 
and virtual delivery across both Child Exploitation, Lived Experience Mentor and 
Missing from Home or Care elements. 

 
Moving Forward:  

 
61. The development of future commissioning intentions is underpinned by a Joint 

Strategic Needs Analysis which will inform the development of the service alongside 
coproduction with key partners and stakeholders.  

 
62. The above Joint Strategic Needs Analysis will inform the development of a Joint 

Finance & Resources Formula which will underpin the development of the Service 
Specification.  

 
Conclusion:  

 
63. Catch 22 continues to deliver against the Performance and Quality Assurance 

Framework for the Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and Missing Children & Young 
People’s Service.  

 
64. Catch 22 has adapted its delivery during COVID-19 and its efforts nationally have 

been recognised.  
 

65. Staffordshire County Council is committed to the ongoing commissioning support 
for CE and Missing and will lead the development of the specification for the 
partnership. 

 
Link to Strategic Plan  

 
66. Child Exploitation & Missing Children & Young People are underpinned by our 

Strategic Outcomes to create a Staffordshire where residents feel safer, happier 
and more supported in their community. It is also underpinned by our Strategic 

Page 23



Priority to support more families and children to look after themselves, stay safe 
and well. 
 

Link to Other Overview and Scrutiny Activity 
 

67. Children and Young People who go Missing from Home and Care in Staffordshire 
Select Committee Report (May 2019) –  
http://moderngov.staffordshire.gov.uk/documents/s123201/Children%20and%20Y
oung%20People%20who%20go%20Missing%20from%20Home%20and%20Care
%20in%20Staffordshire.pdf 

 

List of Background Documents/Appendices:  
 
The Care Act and Whole-Family Approaches, 2015. 
 
Statutory guidance on children who run away or go missing from home or care, 2014. 
 
Preventing Gang Involvement and Youth Violence - Advice for Commissioners 
 

Contact Details 
 
Assistant Director:   Natasha Moody, Assistant Director, Families & 

Communities Commissioning  
 
Joint Report Authors:  
 
Report Author:   Joseph Sullivan  
Job Title:    Senior Commissioning Manager 
Telephone No.:   07866913434 
E-Mail Address:   joseph.sullivan@staffordshire.gov.uk  
 
Report Author:   Sarah Newton   
Job Title:    Commissioning Officer  
Telephone No.:   01785 895160 
E-Mail Address:   sarah.newton@staffordshire.gov.uk  

 

Page 24

http://moderngov.staffordshire.gov.uk/documents/s123201/Children%20and%20Young%20People%20who%20go%20Missing%20from%20Home%20and%20Care%20in%20Staffordshire.pdf
http://moderngov.staffordshire.gov.uk/documents/s123201/Children%20and%20Young%20People%20who%20go%20Missing%20from%20Home%20and%20Care%20in%20Staffordshire.pdf
http://moderngov.staffordshire.gov.uk/documents/s123201/Children%20and%20Young%20People%20who%20go%20Missing%20from%20Home%20and%20Care%20in%20Staffordshire.pdf
http://moderngov.staffordshire.gov.uk/documents/s123201/Children%20and%20Young%20People%20who%20go%20Missing%20from%20Home%20and%20Care%20in%20Staffordshire.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/care-act-and-whole-family-6e1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/307867/Statutory_Guidance_-_Missing_from_care__3_.pdf
file:///C:/Users/jsull1sc/OneDrive%20-%20Staffordshire%20County%20Council/Documents/Downloads/gyv-commissioning-mentoring-programmes%20(1).pdf
mailto:joseph.sullivan@staffordshire.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.newton@staffordshire.gov.uk


 

  

                                                                
WORK PROGRAMME  
Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee 2020/21  
 

This document sets out the work programme for the Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee for 2020/21. 
The Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee is responsible for scrutinising: children and adults’ safeguarding; community 
safety and Localism.  The Council has three priority outcomes.  This Committee is aligned to the outcome: The people of Staffordshire 
will feel safer, happier and more supported in and by their community. 
 
We review our work programme at every meeting.  Sometimes we change it - if something comes up during the year that we think we 
should investigate as a priority.  Our work results in recommendations for the County Council and other organisations about how what 
they do can be improved, for the benefit of the people and communities of Staffordshire. 
     
Councillor John Francis 
Chairman of the Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee 
 
 
 

Membership – County Councillors 2020-21 
 
John Francis (Chairman) 
Bob Spencer (Vice Chairman) 
Ann Beech 
Ron Clarke 
Ann Edgeller 
Trevor Johnson 
Bryan Jones 
Jason Jones 
Paul Snape 
Mike Worthington 
 
 

Calendar of Committee Meetings - 2020-2021 
 

28 May 2020 at 10.00 am cancelled due to Covid 19 

7 July 2020 at 10.00 am virtual meeting held on Teams 

1 September 2020 at 10.00 am virtual meeting held on Teams 

13 October 2020 at 10.00 am – Extra meeting virtual meeting held on Teams 

5 November 2020 at 10.00 am – virtual meeting held on Teams 

6 January 2021 at 10.00 am (moved from 11 January 2021) - virtual meeting held 
on Teams 

1 March 2021 at 10.00 am - virtual meeting held on Teams 

22 April 2021 at 10.00 am    

Meetings usually take place in the Oak Room in County Buildings.  
 
 
 
 
Meetings usually take place at County Buildings, Martin Street, Stafford ST16 2LH   

 

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 6



 

  

Work Programme 2020-21 
Date of 
meeting 

Item Details Action/Outcome 

28 May 2020 
10.00 am 

Progress with the 
Children’s Services 
Improvement Plan 
Cabinet Member: Mark 
Sutton 
Lead Officer: Helen 
Riley 

Requested at their 28 May meeting – Members 
wish to see progress made with the Plan following 
their consideration at the May meeting. 

Meeting cancelled due to Covid 19 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Briefing notes were requested after the 7 July meeting to update 
members on these items and help prioritise future work programme 

planning. 

Domestic Abuse 
Cabinet Member: Gill 
Heath 
Lead Officer: Trish 
Caldwell 

At their meeting of 1 October 2019 Members 
requested a six-monthly update on progress 
made with the newly commissioned New Era 
services 
Note that following the 7 November Triangulation 
meeting the Cabinet Member requested that this 
be considered in light of the new DA Act.  
The report needs to focus on the effectiveness of 
the new contract and the current shortfall in 
funding 

Catch 22 
Cabinet Member: Mark 
Sutton 
 Lead Officer: 

Having met with members of the Catch 22 team 
the Vice Chairman and Members updated the 
select Committee on their work at their 1 October 
meeting. Members requested an update from 
Catch 22 in six month time 

7 July 2020 
10.00 am 
Virtual Teams 
Meeting 

Update on Children’s 
Transformation 

The Select Committee to receive an update on 
Children’s Transformation in light of the impact of 
Covid 19 and the County Council’s response to 
this. 

The Children and Families Services approach and response to Covid-
19 was endorsed and Members congratulated officers on their 
understanding of the impact and risks associated with the Covid-19 
and responding to these. 
Members also asked for a letter of thanks be sent to Catch22 for their 
continued professionalism and commitment throughout the crisis. 
 

1 Sept 2020 
10.00am 
Virtual Teams 
Meeting 

Staffordshire & Stoke-
on-Trent 
Safeguarding 
Children’s Board – 
response to Covid-19 
Cabinet Member: Mark 
Sutton 
Lead Officer: Helen 
Riley 
 

Following the 7 July Select Committee Members 
requested another opportunity to consider the 
response to Covid-19 by the Staffordshire & 
Stoke-on-Trent Safeguarding Children’s Board in 
more detail. 

Officers were commended on the work undertaken and on their risk 
and recovery planning. The refreshed risk and recovery plan will be 
shared with the Select Committee once it has been updated to include 
demand following the return to school. 

13 Oct 2020 
10.00 am 

Children & Families 
Transformation – 

An extra meeting requested for pre-decision 
scrutiny to look at progress with the Children and 

An update on the 50% increase in EHE numbers and the impact of 
Covid 19 on these be include on the work programme. 

P
age 26



 

Extra meeting 
Virtual Teams 
Meeting 
Healthy 
Staffordshire 
Select 
Committee 
Members invited 
to attend 

update 
Cabinet Member: Mark 
Sutton 
Lead Officer: Helen 
Riley 

Families Transformation prior to the October 
Cabinet. 

Members noted the progress made and recognised the impact of 
delays on both outcomes and the MTFS. 
Members comments on the update will be fed back to the October 
Cabinet meeting. 

5 Nov 2020 
10.00am 

Customer Feedback 
and Complaints 
Annual Report 2019-
20 – Adults Social 
Care 
Cabinet Member: 
Johnny McMahon  
Officer: Kate Bullivant 

Reports brought annually. They heard that the number of complaints received during the year 
was as follows:- (i) 187 Stage 1 – Local Investigation complaints and; 
(ii) 35 Stage 2 - Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
complaints. However, there had been no complaints requiring 
independent investigation. Members noted the main areas for 
complaint and were satisfied that the Authority had taken appropriate 
steps to improve service delivery where necessary. Also, they were 
encouraged that the volume of complaints had been relatively small 
having regard to the extent of Adult Social Services provided by the 
Authority during 2019/20.    

Customer Feedback 
and Complaints 
Annual Report 2019-
20 – Children’s Social 
Care 
Cabinet Member: Mark 
Sutton 
Officer: Kate Bullivant 

Reports brought annually. They gave preliminary consideration to a report of the Cabinet Member 
for Children and Young People on Customer Feedback and 
Complaints Service – Children’s Social Services Annual report 2019/20 
and requested that the matter be brought back to their next meeting in 
January 2021 for proper scrutiny. 

Court Backlogs: 
Impact on Children’s 
Social Care  
Cabinet Member: Mark 
Sutton 
Officer: Deborah 
Ramsdale 

Requested by Members following concerns 
around the backlog that has resulted from Covid 
19 restrictions 

They heard that the 2020 Covid-19 pandemic had exacerbated a pre-
existing backlog in the family and criminal justice systems which, 
unfortunately, had significant implications for those families and 
individuals concerned. In addition, there were considerable financial 
pressures on the County Council from delays in cases being heard. 
However, they were satisfied that appropriate action had been taken by 
the Authority to highlight the difficulties caused by delays, with Central 
Government, the judiciary, independent sectors and other 
stakeholders, as appropriate and looked forward to an improvement in 
the current situation, as soon as possible.     
 
 
 
 
         

 Impact of Covid on 
Children appearing in 
Criminal courts 
Cabinet Member: Mark 

Requested by Members following concerns 
around the backlog that has resulted from Covid 
19 restrictions 

See above 

P
age 27



 

Sutton 
Officer: Hazel 
Williamson  

6 January 2021, 
2.00 pm (moved 
from 11 January 
2021, 10.00 am) 

Staffordshire and 
Stoke-on-Trent Adult 
Safeguarding 
Partnership Board 
(SSASPB) – Annual 
Report  
Cabinet Member: 
Johnny McMahon 
Officer: John Wood 
(Independent Chair) 

Consideration requested by the SSASPB to give 
assurance and an opportunity for the Committee 
to reflect on adult safeguarding and seek answers 
to any questions. Inclusion in Work Programme 
agreed by Chairman 22 October 2020.  

Members highlighted the need for more consistency in methods of data 
capture between Authorities to enable benchmarking. They were 
encouraged by the lessons which had been learnt and commended all 
Officers and the Independent Chair on their excellent work and 
commitment to safeguarding. 

 Customer Feedback 
and Complaints 
Annual Report 2019-
20 – Children’s Social 
Care (including 
learning from 
Complaints)  
Cabinet Member: Mark 
Sutton 
Officer: Kate Bullivant 

Reports brought annually. First considered at 
meeting on 5 November but further report to 
include additional information.   

Members noted the main areas for complaint and were satisfied that 
the Authority had taken appropriate steps to learn from the criticisms 
made and improve service delivery where necessary. Also, they were 
encouraged that the volume of complaints had been relatively small 
having regard to the extent of Children’s Social Services provided by 
the Authority during 2019/20. However, they expressed their wish to 
receive more real-time data relating to complaints in order to assist 
them in their overview and scrutiny role.   

 Elective Home 
Schooling 
Cabinet Member: Mark 
Sutton 
Officers: Jenny Dodd, 
Karl Hobson  

 Members were updated on progress with regard to the outcomes of a 
review of EHE support undertaken in Staffordshire during 2018 relating 
to:- (i) off rolling pupils from school to EHE; (ii) an annual event to 
celebrate achievements of EHE students and; (iii) Staffing levels within 
the EHE service. They agreed to continue their efforts to achieve 
legislative changes for the establishment of a register of children not 
attending mainstream schools and associated duties on 
parents/proprietors of certain educational settings.   
 

1 March 2021 
10.00 am 

Children & Families 
Transformation and 
learning from the 
Serious Case Review 
Cabinet Member: Mark 
Sutton 
Officer: Helen Riley 
 

Requested by the Committee on 1 January 2021 
to review progress on remedial measures 
following publication of the Serious Case Review 
final report. 
 
 

Members discussed in detail the presentation from the Deputy Chief 
Executive and Director for Families & Communities, considering 
learning from the Serious Case Review and how this had influenced 
the Children & Families Transformation programme in the development 
of services. 

22 April 2021 
10.00 am 

‘Catch 22’ 
Cabinet Member: Mark 
Sutton 
Officer: Natasha Moody 
& Joe Sullivan 

Originally requested by the Committee on 1 
January 2021 following Briefing Notes circulated 
in July 2020.   
Recommissioning this service is due in April and 
therefore the report will focus on the   
Commissioning of Child Exploitation & of Children 

 

P
age 28



 

& Young People Missing from Home or Care 

Contextual 
Safeguarding Review 
Cabinet Member: Mark 
Sutton  
Officer: Chris Heeley & 
Hazel Williamson 

Requested by the Committee on 1 January 2021. 
Following the introduction of the Contextual 
Safeguarding approach a review at the end of its 
first year will consider progress made and the 
Select Committee will consider the results of this 
review. 

 

tbc Domestic Abuse: 
Cabinet Member: 
Victoria Wilson 
Lead Officer: Trish 
Caldwell 

Requested by the Committee on 1 January 
following Briefing Notes circulated in October 
2020.   

 

tbc Safeguarding Adults 
on the cusp of care 
Cabinet Member: 
Johnny McMahon 
Lead Officer: Jo 
Sutherland  

At the 7 November Triangulation meeting it was 
proposed to look at any gaps in provision 
between what is happening in the community for 
adults on the cusp of care, the neighbourhood 
coaches/provisions and any safeguarding 
issues this may present. 

 

tbc 
6 monthly update 
from 7 November 
meeting 
(May/June 2020) 

Regional Permanency 
Partnership 
Cabinet Member: Mark 
Sutton 
Lead Officer: Deborah 
Ramsdale & Jo Sullivan 

Following consideration of the arrangements at 
their 7 November Select Committee Members 
had requested an up-date on progress with the 
arrangements in six months’ time. 

 

 

Standing Items 2020-21 
Item Details Action/Outcome 

Themes emerging from Serious Case 
Reviews 
Cabinet Member: Mark Sutton 
Lead Officer:  

Where Serious Case Reviews have taken place the 
Select Committee will consider any learning that 
can be taken from the Review 

Some areas picked up by the DHR review process 

 
 

Briefing Notes/Updates/Visits 2020-21 
Date  Item Details Action/Outcome 

P
age 29



 

 Progress with the 
Children’s Services 
Improvement Plan 
 

Requested at their 28 May meeting – Members 
wish to see progress made with the Plan following 
their consideration at the May meeting. 
 
One of the items from the cancelled meeting due to 
the pandemic 

Special Meeting 13 October 2020 

 Domestic Abuse 
 

At their meeting of 1 October 2019 Members 
requested a six-monthly update on progress made 
with the newly commissioned New Era services 
Note that following the 7 November Triangulation 
meeting the Cabinet Member requested that this be 
considered in light of the new DA Act.  
The report needs to focus on the effectiveness of 
the new contract and the current shortfall in funding. 
 
One of the items from the cancelled meeting due to 
the pandemic 

Circulated to Members 14 October 2020 

 Catch 22 
 

Having met with members of the Catch 22 team the 
Vice Chairman and Members updated the select 
Committee on their work at their 1 October meeting. 
Members requested an update from Catch 22 in six 
month time. 
 
One of the items from the cancelled meeting due to 
the pandemic 

Circulated 21 September 2020 

 
 
 

Working Group and/or Inquiry Days 2020-21 
Date  Item Details Action/Outcome 

January 2021 Transition & 
Preparation for 
Adulthood 
Cabinet Member: Mark 
Sutton 
Lead Officer: Deborah  
Ramsdale 

At their 22 January 2019 meeting Members 
requested this issue be included on their work 
programme – with consideration to be given to 
whether this should be considered by a working 
group. 
In particular they wanted to look at the transition 
between children’s and adult services, the gaps, 
those that remained vulnerable but under the Care 
Act did not meet the criteria to receive adult 
services and how to prepare individual’s to be 
resilient and prepare for as independent an 
adulthood as possible. 

Deborah Ramsdale is working on adults’ transition, including transition 
clinics.  TSU have undertaken a piece of work in this area.  A Peer Review on 

Adults is due in October 2019.  Proposed to stall working on this until post the 
Peer Review. 

 
A protocol has now been agreed and will be implemented in 
November 2019.   
 
Following their meeting of 13 January, the Select Committee agreed to 
postpone a decision on establishing this working group to allow the 
protocol, which went live in November 2019, to bed in. A report will be 
brought to the Select Committee in 12 months’ time (January 2021) to 
evaluate progress made and Members can consider whether there 
remains a need for a working group at that point. 

P
age 30



 

ongoing Children & Families 
Transformation System 
progress 
Cabinet Member: Mark 
Sutton 
Lead Officer: Janene 
Cox/Helen Riley 

To scrutinise progress made with the 
Transformation programme on a monthly (or as 
appropriate) basis. 

At their 13 January 2020 meeting Members agreed that the Chairman 
(and/or Vice Chairman or Shadow Vice Chairman) will attend the 
monthly Children’s Improvement Board and report back to the Select 
Committee rather than duplicating work already underway by 
establishing a separate working group. 
 
Consequently, an oral report will be given by the Chairman (and/or 
Vice Chairman or Shadow Vice Chairman) to the Select Committee 
reporting on progress.  
 

March 2019 -  SEND Working Group 
Cabinet Member: Mark 
Sutton 
Lead Officer: Tim Moss  

Following the joint Ofsted and Written Statement of 
Action (WSoA) a joint working group was 
established with Members from the Prosperous 
Staffordshire, Healthy Staffordshire and Safe and 
Strong Communities Select Committees to look at 
progress in implementing the WSoA. 

 

 Children’s Improvement 
Board informal briefing 
Cabinet Member: Mark 
Sutton 
Lead Officer: Helen Riley 

At the 7 July Select Committee the Chairman 
requested an informal briefing for all Members to 
update them on the work of the Children’s 
Improvement Board. 

 

 
 
 
 
Children’s Improvement Board – monitoring of the Children & Families Transformation System progress 
 

Date Who attended from the 
Select Committee 

Items discussed Information 

30 January,  
25 February, 
29 June 2020 

Cllr Francis 1. Focus area for discussion    

 Tribunals and the cost implications of 
SCC conceding/losing at tribunal   

 Progress overview  
2. Performance – EHCP data 
3. Emergent risks 
4. Forward plan 

To be reported at the meeting. 
At the 7 July Committee meeting members asked for an informal 
workshop to discuss the improvement plan in detail.  

 

P
age 31




	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 1 March 2021
	4 Contextual Safeguarding and Vulnerable Adolescents
	5 Commissioning of Child Exploitation and Children and Young People Missing from Home or Care
	6 Work Programme

